1982

Ben Miller and Jovalle Thomas v. Lawrence S. McMullen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a tort action arising out of a semi-truck, automobile accident which occurred on the 10th day of November, 1979, 4.1 miles West of Delta, in Millard County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The matter was tried to a jury resulting in a special verdict favoring plaintiffs. The court entered judgment on the verdict on June 24, 1981, in favor of plaintiff, Ben Miller, in the amount of \$67,650.00; and in favor of plaintiff, JoValle Thomas, in the amount of \$73,750.00.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the judgment on the verdict.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Anthony M. Thurber, plaintiffs' counsel, in his opening statement outlined the facts of the case. The collision was between a semi-truck driven in the eastbound lane by plaintiff, Ben Miller, and a Subaru station wagon driven in the westbound lane by defendant, Lawrence McMullen. The situs was a two-lane highway just West of Delta, Utah. As Mr. Miller approached the intersection, the Subaru signaled indicating a left turn. The Subaru turned into the eastbound lane of traffic. Mr. Miller, in order to avoid the collision, first applied his brakes but thereafter released them and turned to the left. When the vehicles were approximately 50 feet apart Mr. McMullen, in the Subaru, suddenly turned to the right, returning to the westbound lane of traffic. The point of impact was in the westbound, or Subaru's, lane of traffic. R-36 to 39.

Mr. Thurber characterized Mr. Miller as being the only real eye witness, or first hand eye witness to what had occurred. Mr. Thurber informed the jury that the impact of the Subaru collapsed the front bumper of the truck against the left front wheel, so that the truck had no steering control after the front wheel contacted the Subaru.

Ray H. Ivie, defendant's counsel, in his opening statement, admitted that Lawrence McMullen could not remember anything that had happened after he left Delta, Utah. He contended that Tim Woodward, a passenger in the McMullen vehicle, would testify that the McMullen Subaru was going down the road at a normal speed, that the parties

had no intention of turning right or left, and all of a sudden he looked up and right in front of the windshield was the semi-truck. He observed the driver of the Subaru crank it to the right. It was Mr. Ivie's contention that the physical facts would demonstrate that the Subaru was parallel to the road on impact. He informed the jury that there were two independent witnesses traveling in a car going in the same direction as the Subaru, and they did not observe the Subaru in the eastbound lane of traffic. Mr. Ivie informed the jury that he did not believe that Mr. Miller's version of what happened could be substantiated by the physical evidence.

Mr. Ivie informed the jury that he would call Newell Knight as an expert who would testify that in his opinion the absence of any fresh tire marks prior to impact indicated there was no sudden turning by either vehicle, the Subaru being absolutely parallel with the road at the point of impact at which time the semi-truck was at a 14° angle to the road striking the midpost of the Subaru.

AS TO THE POLYGRAPH TEST:

In chambers, immediately prior to trial, Mr. Thurber informed the court that he intended to introduce the results of a polygraph test taken by Mr. Miller. Mr. Ivie at that time informed the court that if there was a polygraph test, that he would not agree to the introduction of the results of such a test into evidence. The court, in chambers prior to trial, admonished Mr. Thurber not to mention the polygraph test in his opening statement.

The first witness in the trial was plaintiff, Ben Miller.

On cross-examination by defense counsel, Ray H. Ivie, the examination was not proceeding in the manner that Mr. Miller approved of. The question was asked: R-111, lines 15-16.

"(By Mr. Ivie) You said that you were inside of the intersection. Where inside of the intersection were you?"

To which Mr. Miller gave the following answer: R-111, lines 17 to 19

"Mr. Ivie, I know what you are trying to do, and I took a lie detector to verify what I'm testifying is the truth."

Mr. Ivie called for a recess and made a motion for a mistrial.

At the recess the following dialogue took place:

R-112 line 9 to R-115 line 25

"THE COURT: State your law matter.

MR. IVIE: Yes, I ask for a mistrial at this time, because he volunteered that he had taken a lie detector test, and this is prejudicial. This matter was brought up by the Court, counsel, and there was not to be any mention of this until the Court ruled on it. I think it's prejudicial error.

THE COURT: Well, for the record, it was brought up before we came out, and it had to do with the opening statements and I asked Mr. Thurber not to say anything about it in the opening statements until such time -- and not to say anything about it in the opening statement; that at an appropriate time we would decide whether or not that evidence was admissible. Now, if this is the time to decide whether that kind of evidence is admissible, fine. If it's not, then I'll rule upon your --

MR. IVIE: I think this is the time, because I asked for

a mistrial. I don't lay in the bushes until I've lost it.

THE COURT: All right, that's fine. You've made a motion for a mistrial upon the grounds that that kind of evidence is not admissible and, therefore, it would be prejudicial and to the extent that it could not be cured by any kind of instructions by the Court. Now, I'll hear, then, the positions with respect to the lie detector evidence which may be proffered.

MR. THURBER: Well, your Honor, it's true that Mr. Miller did, before this lawsuit was ever started and at the insistence of Mr. Ivie's client, submit to a polygraph examination.

THE COURT: Was it at their insistence?

MR. THURBER: Yes. They refused to pay the property damage until it was --

THE COURT: And they had the lie detector test, then?

MR. IVIE: I don't know about that.

MR. THURBER: Well, they had insisted on it before they pay the property damage.

THE COURT: But they insisted on you having it taken before they would negotiate with you, is that right?

MR. THURBER: They wouldn't pay until they had.

MR. IVIE: That may be State Farm in Salt Lake, I had nothing to do with that, and my client is a separate party.

THE COURT: Now, Mr. Ivie, you are not representing to this court that you represent this man and not State Farm?

MR. IVIE: Oh, no. I represent them, too. They are the same here. But I had no knowledge of this being taken."

"MR. IVIE: Okay. Who insisted on this in Salt Lake?

MR. THURBER: Carolyn Jones?

THE WITNESS: (Mr. Miller) Carolyn Jones wouldn't say anything about settling the property until we had a copy of the lie detector test.

MR. IVIE: Have you got a copy you could furnish me?

MR. THURBER: They have it. It should be in your file.

MR. IVIE: Never seen anything, of this date.

MR. THURBER: I'll be glad to get one for you.

THE COURT: You have access to the file.

MR. IVIE: Do you have a copy?

MR. THURBER: I'm sure I do have in my file. I'd have to dig it out.

THE COURT: Who did the test?

MR. THURBER: A fellow named Steve Batley, who does the examination for the Salt Lake Police Department.

THE COURT: And the test was clean, not deceptive?

MR. THURBER: That's right.

THE COURT: And the only reason it was taken is because the plaintiff in this case insisted upon that, when I say "the plaintiff" I mean the insurance carrier for the plaintiff, insisted that it be taken before negotiations would be had with regard to the matter, is that so?

MR. THURBER: The insurance carrier for the defendant McMullen. The only reason we had him submit to it.

THE COURT: I don't know. I'm going to take this matter under advisement, but I'm going to go on with the trial.

MR. IVIE: Okay.

THE COURT: And I will receive evidence with regard to it, to the results of the test.

MR. IVIE: Based upon their representation?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. IVIE: Okay. You are positive of that, now, you are not taking his word on something?

MR. THURBER: No. I was in on it.

THE WITNESS: (Mr. Miller) He was the one that told me I was going to take the polygraph test; not me. I hired him to do the legal work."

Carolyn Jones, of State Farm, who was the person handling the claim in question, testified that Ben Miller had suggested to her that he would take a lie detector test and furnish a copy to her. R-268 to R-277.

Mr. Miller, when he was specifically asked about the test, stated:

"...It was you, (Mr. Thurber), thought that I should take it (lie detector test) and we should have it on record for you...I told her (Carolyn Jones) what I was doing. And I said, 'We'd be most happy to give you a copy of it'." R-277

And on cross examination of Mr. Miller in regards to the test, Mr. Ivie asked: R-280 line 20 to 22.

"Then it was at your suggestion that you had the polygraph test taken, not at the request of anyone from State Farm?"

And to that Mr. Miller replied: R-280 lines 23 to 25

"I never did say that it was requested. I told her that my attorney suggested that I take one, and she says, 'I would like to have a copy of it'. Now, that's the way --

And then Mr. Ivie asked: R-280 lines 26-27

"So it was at your attorney's suggestion that you took it?"

To which Mr. Miller replied: R-280, lines 28 to 30

"No. No. It was my attorney's suggestion that I took it; but when I told her about we were going to take it she said, 'I would like to have a copy of it'."

After Mr. Miller and Carolyn Jones had testified, Mr. Ivie stated to the court: R-281, lines 25 to 30 and R-282 lines 1 to 3

"Apparently, when you come down to the truth of the matter, Tony thought it would be a good idea to have Ben take a polygraph test, he took one and furnished it to Carolyn Jones. So far as the test is concerned, it's simply self-serving. If it's favorable, he gives it to her. If it's unfavorable, not. Now here's this man (Lawrence McMullen) with this, and he's got a big stake in this case here, his lips are sealed because he has no memory of this. And to allow a -- he can't testify as to what happened."

Mr. Thurber then stated his position to the court: R-282 lines 9 to 12

"Well my position is simply this, your Honor: Mr. Ivie's entire thrust here is that Mr. Miller is lying, just bald-face lying about this thing, and it's the best kind of evidence we can have."

The court then stated: R-282 lines 13 to 15

"On the issue, Mr. Ivie, of whether or not this man is telling the truth, what better evidence is there available to anybody than a polygraph test?"

The court made its ruling. R-283 line 20 to R-284 line 16

"Okay. I'm going to deny the mistrial. I think it's only fair that the Court announce that decision at this time, and that gives the parties a right to or the opportunity to take whatever action they want to take, knowing what the result will be. And I do it on the basis that where the purport of cross examination of the plaintiff by the defendant is the assertion that the plaintiff has lied on direct examination with respect to the specifics as to how the accident occurred, it is not grounds for a mistrial that the plaintiff spontaneously blurts out that he has previously taken a polygraph test with respect to those specific matters and that he passed the test, if in fact it is true and if the examiner or if -- strike that -- and if the test results are available and proffered. I think under the circumstances and the circumstances, further, of this case it would be error to refuse to allow the evidence and the examiner's testimony, if it were offered. However, I will not, and this may be error also, but I believe that the state of the art with respect to polygraph examinations is not such that even under the circumstances of this case I could admit the results of the test without foundation. Now that's where you are. So don't try to get the test result in before the Jury unless you are prepared to bring the examiner, and we'll not talk about the polygraph test on either side unless the evidence comes in to the Jury concerning it, unless I admit evidence concerning it. Okay?"

After the admonition of the court, as above set forth, testimony was taken of the first rebuttal witness, as follows:

R-472 line 24 to R-474 line 4

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. THURBER:

Q What is your occupation -- I'm sorry. Give us your name first.

A My name's Steven Taylor.

Q It's not Thomas.

A No, not Thomas.

Q Where do you reside, Mr. Taylor?

A In Salt Lake City.

Q What is your occupation or profession?

A I'm a polygraph examiner.

Q And will you tell us what that is?

A A polygraph is a lie detector. I administer lie detection tests for various businesses, both private and public businesses.

Q Now, what education and practical experience have you had in that field?

A In that field, in my background in education as a bachelors degree at Utah State University and graduate work in exercise physiology.

MR. IVIE: No, sir ---

THE COURT: Now just a minute. Approach the bench, please.

(Off the record.)

THE COURT: We are going to take a short recess, Ladies and Gentlemen. A law question has arisen, I want to discuss this matter with counsel in chambers. And I'll ask them to come in.

(WHEREUPON, the Court and Counsel removed from the courtroom, where discussion was had off the record, and reconvened in open court upon return to the courtroom at 1:26 o'clock p.m.)

THE COURT: Ladies and Gentlemen, the Court has concluded that as a law matter that, and after discussing with counsel what the purpose of this testimony might be, that it is precluded by the Rules of Civil Procedure; and, therefore, the Court declines, Mr. Thurber, to permit the proffered testimony to approach the Jury.

MR. THURBER: Thank you.

THE COURT: Okay. So you may step down.

MR. THURBER: Thank you for coming."

Mr. Thurber then continued: R-474 line 5 to 12

"Your Honor, my next witness would be another certified polygraph operator, Steve Bartlett, who is out of the State and not available.

In view of his absence, we'll call another rebuttal witness. We'll call Ben Miller.

THE COURT: All right. Now Counsel approach the bench.

(Off the record.)

Mr. Thurber then continued his rebuttal. R-474 line 13 to 26

FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. THURBER:

Q Mr. Miller, now you were present during Major Knight's testimony yesterday and today, were you not?

A Yes, sir.

Q And you saw his reconstruction of the attitudes, according to his view of the two vehicles, at the time they came in contact, did you not?

A Yes, sir.

Q Is that the way it was?

A No, sir. No way.

Q Have you ever lied or will you ever lie to anyone about what happened as relates to this accident?

A No, sir."

The counsel, at the bench above referred to, disclosed the fact that Mr. Steven Taylor had performed a polygraph test on

Ben Miller some time after the trial commenced and before his testimony was offered.

AS TO THE COURT'S JURY INSTRUCTION:

The court gave Jury Instruction No. 10, over defendant's objection, to-wit: R-471 lines 6 to 12.

"Defendant objects to the giving of Instruction No. 10 for the reason that the Court has informed the Jury of the effect of their verdict sofar as the comparative negligence law is concerned. And although McGinn v. Utah Power case is a case that arises out of Idaho, I still think that is the law of the State of Utah. So for that reason I object to it."

This objection was made before the instruction was given to the jury.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT McMULLEN'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL WHEN PLAINTIFF, BEN MILLER, AS THE FIRST WITNESS, TESTIFIED THAT HE HAD TAKEN A LIE DETECTOR TEST THAT VERIFIED WHAT HE WAS TESTIFYING TO WAS THE TRUTH.

The court committed error in failing to grant defendant McMullen's motion for a mistrial when plaintiff, Ben Miller, as the first witness, testified that he had taken a lie detector test that verified what he was testifying to was the truth.

A 1980 Utah criminal case established the following rule on the admission of polygraph examinations:

"Polygraph examinations may be admitted under binding stipulation between parties, but even if there is stipulation, admissibility must be premised upon proof that examiner was qualified and that examination was

conducted according to accepted principles, and it does not necessarily follow that licensure of examiner will by itself be sufficient to establish examiner's qualifications." State of Utah v. Collins, 612 P.2d 775.

The Court in the Collins case, supra, reviewed the development of the use of the polygraph and noted that there are some recent decisions admitting polygraph examinations at least under certain conditions. The Court further noted the vast majority of courts which have ruled on the issue, as to the admissibility of polygraph tests, have held unstipulated polygraph examinations inadmissible. The Court stated:

"...it is impossible to address the issue of the admissibility of polygraph results without an adequate evidentiary record, including expert testimony which deals with such factors as the validity of the underlying theory upon which polygraph examinations are based, the practical application of those principles to the issue of detection of fabrication, the verifiability of polygraph test, and the problem whether successful deception of the polygraph can be accomplished." State vs Collins, supra, at 778.

A 1979 Utah case, State of Utah vs. Abel, 600 P.2d 994, addressing itself to whether a stipulation was necessary as a foundation for admissibility of the polygraph test stated:

"...a stipulation does not in any way establish the reliability or accuracy of polygraph test results. However, it does embody an important notion of fairness for those parties who consider the polygraph reliable and are willing to rely on it. A stipulation forecloses one party from preventing admission of an adverse test after he and the opposing party have agreed it would be admissible, simply because he does not like the results. In addition, a stipulation allows each of the parties to insist that the polygraph be administered by reputable, qualified persons, in a manner most conducive to producing accurate results, and in a manner that can be monitored."

In the Abel case, supra, speaking of the accuracy of the polygraph, the Court stated:

"This Court has heretofore observed that even its most sanguine proponents admit that it cannot be relied on to determine with absolute and invariable assurance whether a person is lying or telling the truth. State vs. Jenkins, Utah, 523 P.2d 1232(1974)"

The Abel case, supra, stands for the proposition that the stipulation to introduce the polygraph results into evidence, must be binding on both sides. In the Abel case, supra, the defendant had signed the stipulation, but the counsel for the State of Utah had not signed the stipulation. The Court said there is no stipulation because only the defendant is bound by the agreement and held that the Court by allowing the test results into evidence had committed error.

In the case at bar, now being considered by the Court, there is no claim that there was a stipulation for the admission of the polygraph test results. There was the erroneous representation that the defendant's insurance company representative had requested such a test but the plaintiff, Ben Miller, specifically testified that was not so. R-277 and R-280 lines 20 to 30.

If the rule for the admission of polygraph test results is that there must be a binding stipulation, a foundation by the operator as to his qualifications, and a showing that the test was conducted according to accepted principles; it would then seem logical that the alleged results of the test could not be introduced by the statement of a witness that he had taken a test and the evidence that he was giving was truthful.

The California District Court of Appeal, Second District, in People vs. Aragon, 316 P.2d 370, in analyzing a case similar to the one at bar, stated:

"In the instant case there is nothing before us to establish what kind of lie detector test was given, if any; there is nothing concerning the accuracy of such a test; there is no showing that the tests, even if properly given, have achieved scientific recognition in this state; there is no foundation for the admission of any test results; and there is no stipulation that the testimony could be received in evidence. It is not at all unlikely that a popular belief has been formed from press, radio, television, stage and screen that the lie detector is an accomplishment of modern science the results of which are as reliable as those of fingerprinting, blood tests and ballistics. However this is not correct. It is general knowledge among those familiar with the lie detector machines that the results are greatly dependent upon the training, experience and skill of the operators and that the results vary with different types of subjects. ...Appellate court reports throughout the country would indicate an agreement that the best lie detector test to date is a thorough painstaking and searching cross-examination by competent counsel.

If the result of the lie detector test is inadmissible in the first instance, surely no one would contend that the results can be cloaked in the raiment of an accusatory statement and then slipped into evidence. If we were to hold that such a course is proper we would have sanctioned the receipt of damaging evidence which, but for such masking, could not be heard by the jury. We believe that the prosecution should not be permitted to introduce into evidence by indirection what would be highly improper if done directly. Our system of jurisprudence is not constructed upon such a foundation. Moreover, it would be hard to believe that the jury here considered the statements solely as accusatory statements.

Obviously the statements with reference to the lie detector test as introduced in this case were highly prejudicial and in our opinion constituted prejudicial error."

The calling of the first rebuttal witness, a Steven Taylor, who purportedly had conducted a polygraph test on Ben Miller after the commencement of the trial at bar; the statement by Mr. Thurber

that the next witness would be another certified polygraph operator, Steve Bartlett, who was out of the state and not available; and the recalling of Ben Miller to state again that he had not lied to anyone about what happened as it related to the accident; constituted further prejudicial error.

The Utah Supreme Court adopted Rules of Evidence, February 17, 1971, which were effective July 1, 1971. Rule 2, provides as follows:

"Except to the extent to which they may be relaxed by other procedural rule or statute applicable to the specific situation, these rules shall apply in every proceeding, both criminal and civil, conducted by or under the supervision of a court, in which evidence is produced."

Defendant in the case before the bar contends in civil matters there is no procedural rule or statute applicable to the specific situation of the admissibility of the results of the lie detector test that should make the rule different in civil and in criminal cases.

Other Courts have dealt with the matter of lie detector tests in civil cases.

The California Court in 1957 laid down the hard and fast rule:

"Lie detector tests have no place in California law."
Gideon vs. Gideon, 314 P.2d 1011.

The Montana Court in 1972, stated:

"...Few jurisdictions allow the polygraph tests in criminal actions. An extensive research reveals fewer jurisdictions have considered such evidence in civil actions. After hearing the evidence offered by the polygraph expert at the trial, the court properly excluded his testimony."
Gropp vs. Lotton, 503 P.2d 661, at 666.

The New Mexico Court in 1966, stated:

"That Legislature by statute saw fit to license and regulate polygraphy did not raise profession or occupation to such scientific dignity as would justify Supreme Court's recognition of results of polygraph tests as admissible evidence."
In re Moyer, 421 P.2d 781.

However, by 1976, the New Mexico Court had modified its rule in civil cases to the point where the Court stated:

"present standard for admissibility of polygraph evidence takes into consideration qualifications of polygraph operator, reliability of procedure used, validity of test made, and other evidentiary requirements." Hammond vs. Reeves, 552 P.2d 1237, at 1238.

All of the Courts seem to require that before polygraph test results will be admissible in evidence, a foundation must be laid that the examiner is qualified and the examination was conducted according to accepted principles. The case at bar falls short of even the very minimum standard.

In the interest of uniformity it would seem that both in civil and in criminal matters, under the Rules of Evidence for Utah and the Collins case, supra, a further prerequisite should require stipulation between the parties.

POINT II

THE COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO WHAT EFFECT THEIR ANSWERS WOULD HAVE ON THE FINAL OUTCOME OF THE CASE.

The court committed error in instructing the Jury as to what effect their answers would have on the final outcome of the case.

Over the objection of defendant's counsel, the court instruct the Jury as follows in Instruction No. 10.

"In considering your answer to Question No. f, the Court cautions you that the amounts you arrive at are not necessarily the amounts plaintiff Ben Miller will be awarded as a judgment against the defendant. The Court may be required to make certain adjustments to your findings by reason of the comparative negligence law of this State.

Under that law plaintiff Ben Miller will not ultimately be awarded judgment for any amount, regardless of your answers, if you find his negligence equal to or greater than that of the defendant. On the other hand, if you find the defendant's negligence greater than plaintiff Miller's negligence, then plaintiff Miller will ultimately be awarded a judgment, but in awarding judgment to him the Court will reduce your figures in answer to Question No. 4 by the percentage of negligence which you have attributed to him if any, in your answer to Question No. 3.

With respect to plaintiff Jovalle Thomas, the Court will ultimately award judgment to her against the defendant for the full amount stated in your answer to Question No. 5, without reduction, as she is not affected by the comparative negligence law."

In Comparative Negligence Manuel, by Carroll R. Heft, J.D. and C. James Heft, J.D., published by Callaghan & Company, 1971, it states:

"The special verdict is the very cornerstone of the comparative negligence concept, and the jury does not, and should not, know the legal effect and result of its answers to the interrogatories in the special verdict. By using the procedure of a special verdict under comparative negligence, a jury finds the facts without regard to the ultimate outcome of the case. The court takes the facts as found by the jury and awards judgment. The procedure is intended to ascertain the truth untainted by prejudice or a desire to see one of the parties win or lose." (Chapter 8, page 1.)

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