Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1982

Ben Miller and Jovalle Thomas v. Lawrence S. McMullen: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE THE COURT'S DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL.

Essentially, appellant's claims of error regarding denial of his mistrial motion go to the alleged belief that the jury was prejudiced by Ben Miller's spontaneous remark during cross-examination about the lie detector test. The context of this volunteered statement was cross-examination in which the appellant's attorney was attempting to show that the witness had lied during direct examination. When pressed, Mr. Miller rather angrily stated that he knew what Mr. Ivie was trying to do and that he had passed a lie detector test to verify what he was testifying was the truth. (R. 376)

This one brief remark is the only statement that could have possibly influenced the jury. Appellant in his brief quotes language from the transcript (See appellant's brief P. 4-7) concerning the discussions regarding the polygraph test; but all of those conversations were out of the

presence of the jury and no prejudice could possibly have resulted. Next, appellant quotes language from the subsequent day of trial wherein the trial judge heard testimony out of the jury's presence regarding the test and thereafter ruled on the mistrial motion (See appellant's brief P. 7-9). Finally, appellant quotes language from the trial transcript (See appellant's brief P. 9-11) wherein Mr. Thurber began to qualify a polygraph examiner as an expert witness. Thurber got no further into the qualification process than name, residence, occupation and education when he was interrupted and the court refused to allow further testimony. Because the trial court denied the motion for mistrial and ruled the polygraph test result would be admissible only if the expert qualified and proper foundation was established, it is difficult to understand how Mr. Thurber's brief preliminary questioning could possibly have prejudiced the jury. The witness never even testified that he had conducted an examination.

Appellant appeals the Court's denial of his mistrial motion claiming error based upon prejudice resulting from the witness's reference to a lie detector test, not upon the question of admissibility of a lie detector test results. Therefore, whether the trial court's decision to admit the test result was error, or whether uniformity of criminal and

civil cases regarding admissibility should exist, is not the question. The question is whether Mr. Miller's volunteered statement was prejudicial under the circumstances.

A. The Granting or Denying of a Motion for Mistrial or New Trial is Within the South Discretion of the Trial Court. Such Discretion Will Not be Overturned Without a Showing of Substantial Prejudice.

The conduct of a trial lies within the trial judge's sound discretion. Because of the trial court's favored position to observe the subjective effect trial incidents have upon jurors, appellate review of the trial court's discretionary rulings is limited. Utah law is explicit on this point.

"The granting of a motion for mistrial lies in the sound discretion of the trial judge, and his ruling should be overturned only when it clearly appears that he abused his discretion. A mistrial should be granted only when it appears that justice will be thwarted unless a jury is discharged and a new trial granted." Watkins & Faber v. Whitely, 592 P.2d 613, 616 (Utah 1979).

B. Standards of Appellate Review of a Trial Court's Exerise of Discretionary Power.

Utah law establishes a two part standard of review. The first part deals with abuse of discretion, and relates to the action taken by the trial court with regard to alleged improprieties. The second part involves substantial prejudicial effect and focuses upon whether the improprieties were

of substantial gravity to preclude a fair and impartial trial. The moving party must satisfy both elements before an appellate court will overturn the trial court's action.

"The purpose of the trial is to afford the parties a full and fair opportunity to present their evidence and their contentions and to have the issues in dispute between them determined by a jury; and that when that has been accomplished we will not disturb the determination made by ...the trial court unless it is shown that there was a substantial and prejudicial error which prevented a fair trial,..." Lee v. Howes, 548 P.2d 619 621 (Utah 1976).

"The broad discretionary power of the trial court in granting or denying of new trial is well established. And we have repeatedly expressed our reluctance to interfere with its judgment in such matters unless the action is clearly unreasonable and arbitrary." Page v. Utah Home Fire Ins. Co., 15 Utah 2d 257, 391 P.2d 290, 292-93 (1964).

The trial court has broad discretionary power over the conduct of the trial and in deciding the prejudicial effect of any alleged improprieties. The trial court's exercise of such discretion will generally not be overturned unless it is clearly demonstrated that the court abused its discretion. The reason for this deference to the trial court is:

"[T]he advisability and indeed the necessity of enabling the trial judge to properly perform his function as the authority in charge of the trial by giving him a reasonable latitude of discretion in ruling on such matters. (footnotes omitted) Experience teaches that just as sure as human beings are involved, untoward happenings of

various kinds will continue to occur during trials. It is the responsibility of the trial court to rule upon questions which arise concerning whether any such occurrence has prevented a party from having a fair trial;... Due to the fact that this is primarily his responsibility; and that he is in a position of advantage to observe the appearance, demeanor and reactions of all persons concerned, and the result which eventuates, his rulings on such matters should be looked upon with indulgence and should not be disturbed unless it clearly appears that he has abused his discretion." Robinson v. Hreinson, 17 Utah 2d, 261, 409 P.2d 121, 124 (1965).

As indicated, in order to justify overturning the trial court's decision requires a clear and convincing showing of the trial court's abuse of discretion. This is usually accomplished, if at all, by demonstrating to the appellate court's satisfaction the substantial prejudice the alleged improprieties had upon the verdict. Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure addresses itself to this subject as follows:

Harmless Error

No error...or defect in any ruling or order of in anything done...by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial,...unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

The appellant has not demonstrated either substantial or any other prejudice arising from Mr. Miller's one single volunteered remark toward the beginning of a three day trial.

The trial judge carefully considered the remark, and heard testimony regarding the circumstances surrounding the polygraph examination of Mr. Miller. Appellant's counsel should have known about the polygraph test in advance of the trial since his real client (State Farm) was fully aware of its existence and had a copy. If counsel thereafter pressed Mr. Miller regarding the veracity of his story and in fact asserted as he did that Mr. Miller was lying, he could fully expect that the fact of the polygraph test would be volunteered. Under these circumstances there was no abuse of the court's discretion and certainly no substantial prejudice requiring reversal.

POINT II

NO PREJUDICE RESULTED FROM THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTING THE JURY REGARDING THE EFFECT OF COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE.

The trial court's decision whether to give or not to give an instruction is another discretionary matter. The standards of review outlined above apply equally to such rulings of the trial court.

The state of the law in Utah regarding informing the jury of the effect of comparative negligence is unsettled. Defendant cites Mc Ginn v. Utah Power and Light Co., 529 P.2d

423 (Utah 1974) arguing that decision should control. Mc Ginn involved an Idaho comparative negligence statute, and this court in its decision stated that the rule it was adopting was substantive and not separable from the statute. That decision is not determinative of the question how the Court should rule when faced with a case requiring application of the Utah statute.

The recent case of <u>Lamkin v. Lynch</u>, 600 P.2d 530 (Utah 1979) raised grave doubts as to the validity of the <u>Mc Ginn</u> rational. The concurring and dissenting opinions in <u>Lamkin</u> both indicated that Mc Ginn should be reconsidered.

The proposition that the jury should be informed of the effect of its apportionment of fault in a special verdict is forcibly argued by the last Professor E.W. Thode in Comparative Negligence, Contribution Among Tort Feasors, and the Effect of a Release---A Triple Play by the Utah Legislature, 1973 Utah L. Rev. 306 414-418. Professor Thode concludes that to allow the jurors to intelligently fulfill their sworn responsibility, they should be informed of the legal effect of their comparison of negligence. Indeed, according to Professor Thode, failure to instruct as to the effect may be may be affirmatively misleading.

"Absent such an instruction, a sensible juror is likely to believe that plaintiff will re-

cover, but that the damages will be reduced proportionately if plaintiff's contributory negligence is found to be less than one hundred percent. Such an assumption would be accurate in a 'pure' comparative negligence state, but not in Utah, where plaintiff's negligence must be less than the defendant's negligence for plaintiff to recover anything from the defendant." Id. at 418.

In the present case, the special verdict (R. 196-97) contained only five questions. Question three, dealing with apportionment of negligence, was not answered because in question two, the jury found that the respondent, Ben Miller, was not negligent. The jury made no finding of negligence requiring comparison which instruction 10 could have influenced at all. The court's instruction, if error, is on its face totally harmless.

Had the jury returned a comparative finding in the range of plaintiff fifty-five percent negligent and defendant forty five percent negligent, as happened in McGinn, then appellant's position might have merit. But where, as here, the jury found the appellant one hundred percent or wholly liable for causative fault, the questioned instruction could in no way have effected or prejudiced the jury. Appellant has completely failed to demonstrate the substantial prejudice required to justify this Court's overruling of the trial court's denial of appellant's motion for new

trial upon the ground of claimed error in the giving of the instruction.

CONCLUSION

The grounds for appeal asserted by appellant totally fail to demonstrate either abuse of discretion or substantial prejudice. Respondents respectfully request that the appeal be dismissed and remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.